Percutaneous Penetration Enhancers

Edited by Eric W. Smith Howard I. Maibach



CRC Press Boca Raton New York London Tokyo

Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data

Percutaneous penetration enhancers / edited by Eric W. Smith, Howard I. Maibach.
p. cm.
Includes bibliographical references and index.
ISBN 0-8493-2605-2
1. Transdermal medication. 2. Skin absorption. I. Smith, Eric W. Il. Maibach, Howard I.
RM151.P474 1995
615'.6--dc20

95–7119 CIP

This book contains information obtained from authentic and highly regarded sources. Reprinted material is quoted with permission, and sources are indicated. A wide variety of references are listed. Reasonable efforts have been made to publish reliable data and information, but the author and the publisher cannot assume responsibility for the validity of all materials or for the consequences of their use.

Neither this book nor any part may be reproduced or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic or mechanical, including photocopying, microfilming, and recording, or by any information storage or retrieval system, without prior permission in writing from the publisher.

All rights reserved. Authorization to photocopy items for internal or personal use, or the personal or internal use of specific clients, may be granted by CRC Press, Inc., provided that \$.50 per page photocopied is paid directly to Copyright Clearance Center, 27 Congress Street, Salem, MA 01970 USA. The fee code for users of the Transactional Reporting Service is ISBN 0-8493-2605-2/95/\$0.00+\$.50. The fee is subject to change without notice. For organizations that have been granted a photocopy license by the CCC, a separate system of payment has been arranged.

CRC Press, Inc.'s consent does not extend to copying for general distribution, for promotion, for creating new works, or for resale. Specific permission must be obtained in writing from CRC Press for such copying.

Direct all inquiries to CRC Press, Inc., 2000 Corporate Blvd., N.W., Boca Raton, Florida 33431.

© 1995 by CRC Press, Inc.

No claim to original U.S. Government works International Standard Book Number 0-8493-2605-2 Library of Congress Card Number 95-7119 Printed in the United States of America 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 0 Printed on acid-free paper Chapter 15.4

Electroporation

Mark R. Prausnitz, Vanu G. Bose, Robert Langer, and James C. Weaver

CONTENTS

I. Introduction	
II. Electroporation Overview	
III. Skin Electroporation	
A. Molecular Flux	
B. Electroporation and Iontophoresis	
C. Electrical Analysis	
IV. Discussion	
A. Electroporation Mechanism	
B. Drug Delivery Applications	
Acknowledgment	
References	

I. INTRODUCTION

Transdermal drug delivery offers many potential advantages over conventional methods of drug administration.¹⁻⁴ However, very few drugs can be administered transdermally at therapeutic levels, due to the low permeability of human skin. The remarkable barrier properties of skin are attributed primarily to the stratum corneum (SC), the skin's outer layer. The SC is a dead tissue composed of flattened cells filled with cross-linked keratin and an extracellular matrix made up of lipids arranged largely in bilayers.^{5,6} Intercellular pathways are generally believed to be the most important routes for transdermal transport. Therefore, permeabilization of the lipid bilayers occupying these intercellular pathways would be expected to increase transdermal transport.

A number of chemical, electrical, and other approaches to enhance transport across skin have found varied success, as discussed elsewhere in this book. This chapter presents a novel approach to enhancement involving electroporation, an electrical phenomenon known to dramatically and reversibly alter lipid bilayer permeability. We examined the possibility of electroporating the intercellular lipid bilayers of the SC to enhance transdermal drug delivery. In a recent paper⁷ we discussed skin electroporation in detail. Here, we provide a review of this topic, as well as more recent developments.

II. ELECTROPORATION OVERVIEW

Electroporation, which includes electropermeabilization, involves the creation of aqueous pathways in lipid bilayer membranes by the application of a brief electric

^{0-8493-2605-2/95/\$0.00+\$.50} © 1995 by CRC Press, Inc.

field pulse.⁸⁻¹² Permeability and electrical conductance of lipid bilayers, such as cell membranes, are increased by many orders of magnitude. Moreover, the associated local electric field can contribute to transmembrane molecular transport by electrophoresis and/or electroosmosis. These membrane changes can persist for up to hours, but are reversible or irreversible, depending mainly on pulse magnitude and duration. Electroporation has been demonstrated in many different mammalian, plant, yeast, bacterial, and other cells, as well as in artificial planar and spherical membranes. Thus, electroporation appears to be universal in lipid bilayers, with onset largely independent of their exact composition or structure. Although the creation of transient aqueous pathways, or electropores, is the proposed mechanism by which electroporation occurs, the exact physical nature of an electropore and the possibility of imaging them by any form of microscopy remain unresolved.^{8,10,11,13,14}

Electrical exposures typically involve square wave or exponential electric field pulses which generate transmembrane potentials of approximately 1 V and last 10 μ s to 10 ms.⁸⁻¹² For lipid bilayers on the order of 10 nm thickness, this corresponds to a local field strength within the membrane of 10⁶ V/cm. Based largely on electrical measurements, electropores are thought to be created on the submicrosecond time scale.^{15–18} They then continue to grow in size for the duration of the electrical exposure. Maximum pore diameters are believed to occur up to 10 nm, although a distribution in sizes is expected.¹⁹ After the pulse, pores are believed to shrink to a metastable state over a characteristic time of milliseconds.^{20,21} These long-lived metastable pores are thought to be ~1 nm in radius.^{22,23} Having lifetimes from subseconds to hours, these pores eventually disappear completely under reversible conditions. The onset of electroporation has been shown to occur largely independent of exact membrane composition and experimental conditions. However, the time scale of recovery is a strong function of conditions, especially temperature, where low temperature (i.e., 4°C) increases pore lifetimes.^{8,10}

Although electroporation has been demonstrated under a variety of conditions, a range of electrical parameters exists for which electroporation is known to occur, and a smaller range exists for which electroporation is reversible. Both the magnitude and duration of the induced transmembrane voltage are important to the occurrence of electroporation. For example, electroporation generally occurs for short pulses (0.1 to 10 μ s) which generate a transmembrane voltage slightly greater than 1 V, medium-length pulses (10 to 100 μ s) of 0.5 to 1 V, and long pulses (≥ 1 ms) of 0.2 to 0.5 V.^{24,25} Less work has been done on pulses shorter than 0.1 μ s.

While electrical characterization of electroporation is important to mechanistic understanding, most applications have emphasized the ability of electroporation to increase molecular transport across lipid bilayers. Many different molecules have been transported across membranes by electroporation, ranging progressively in size from small ions to sugars to oligonucleotides to proteins to DNA to virus particles.¹¹ Electroporation has found widespread application in molecular biology as a method to introduce DNA into cells in suspension for gene transfection.^{8,10} More recently, electroporation of cells in monolayers^{26,27} and cells which are part of intact tissues²⁸⁻³² also was demonstrated. For example, electroporation of tumors as a method of increasing local cellular uptake of chemotherapeutic agents was applied recently to humans as part of a phase I trial in France.³³ The studies discussed in this chapter also deal with electroporation of tissue, namely skin.^{7,34-38} However, in distinct contrast

with other tissues in which cell membranes are electroporated, electroporation of skin appears to involve electroporation of the multilamellar, intercellular lipid bilayers of the SC.

III. SKIN ELECTROPORATION

This chapter discusses whether electroporation of the SC is possible, and whether it can be distinguished from conventional iontophoresis. Although both electroporation and iontophoresis involve electric fields, the two phenomena are fundamentally different. Iontophoresis acts primarily on the drug, moving molecules across skin by electrophoresis and/or electroosmosis. Any skin structural changes are a secondary effect. In contrast, electroporation is expected to cause transient, but large changes in tissue permeability, involving significant structural changes in the skin. The electric field is believed to cause transport by a combination of two mechanisms during electroporation: (1) electropores are created and (2) as pores appear, molecules are moved through the pores by electrophoresis and/or electroosmosis due to the local field.

A. MOLECULAR FLUX

To determine whether electroporation of the SC occurs, we subjected human cadaver epidermis under physiological conditions to electric pulses which cause electroporation in other systems. The experimental methods used were described previously.7,38 Briefly, heat-stripped cadaver epidermis was loaded into side-by-side permeation chambers, exposed to well-stirred phosphate-buffered saline (PBS, pH 7.4), and allowed to hydrate fully (12 to 18 h, 4° C). The temperature was raised to 37° C and fresh PBS containing 1 mM fluorescent compound (calcein, Lucifer Yellow, or erythrosin derivative) was added to the outer, SC side. After a few hours, electric pulsing was applied with Ag/AgCl electrodes. An exponential pulse (decay time constant, $\tau = 1.0$ to 1.3 ms) was applied every 5 s for 1 h, with the negative electrode on the SC side unless otherwise noted. In presenting results we reported voltages across the skin rather than voltages across the electrodes because they are more relevant. The receptor compartment was sampled periodically by emptying its contents and replacing it with fresh PBS. Analysis by calibrated spectrofluorimetry allowed measurement of receptor compartment fluorescent compound concentrations, and thereby, calculation of time-average transdermal fluxes.

Quantitative measurements of transdermal molecular fluxes and electrical measurements are consistent with the three characteristic features of electroporation:⁸⁻¹² (1) large increases in molecular flux and ionic conductance, (2) reversibility over a range of voltages, where recovery has two time constants (millisecond and minute), and (3) structural changes in the membrane barrier.

First, transdermal fluxes of calcein (623 Da, – 4 charge), a moderate-sized, highly polar, fluorescent molecule which does not normally cross skin in detectable quantities, were measured during application of low duty cycle electric field pulses. Fluxes before pulsing were below the detection limit (imposed by background fluorescence), while fluxes during pulsing were up to 10,000-fold greater. Figure 1 shows that flux increased nonlinearly with increasing pulse voltage; i.e., the flux increased strongly with increasing voltage below ~100 V and increased weakly with



Figure 1 Transdermal fluxes of calcein due to exposure of human skin to different electrical conditions. Calcein flux during application of "forward-polarity" pulses (**a**) and approximately 1 h after pulsing in the "reverse" direction (see text) (**A**). This figure suggests that a transition point may exist at ~100 V, below which flux increases as a strong function of voltage and flux increases are reversible, and above which flux increases only weakly with voltage and effects are only partially reversible. Standard deviation bars are shown. Fluxes below the calcein flux detection limit of 10⁻⁴ µg/cm²/h are indicated below the dashed line. (From Prausnitz, M. R. et al., *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.*, 90, 10504, 1993. With permission.)

increasing voltage at higher voltages. Supporting electrical measurements also showed increases in skin conductance of one to three orders of magnitude (see below).

Second, reversibility was assessed. Following electrical pulsing for 1 h, transdermal fluxes generally decreased by ~90% within 30 min and >99% within 1 or 2 h, consistent with significant reversibility. Electrical conductance measurements also showed recovery (see below). However, elevated postpulsing fluxes could be caused not only by irreversible alterations of skin structure, but also by the efflux of calcein "loaded" into the skin during high fluxes caused by pulsing.

The results of an additional, and possibly better, test of reversibility are also shown in Figure 1. Skin was pulsed with the electrode polarity reversed, leaving the transtissue voltage magnitude during pulsing the same. However, the reversed polarity electrophoretic driving force associated with the pulse should have moved calcein away from the skin, significantly reducing transdermal transport during pulsing. By measuring fluxes ~1 h after such reversed pulsing, long-lived changes in skin permeability can be assessed independently (Figure 1). These data suggest that pulses below ~100 V caused no detectable long-lived changes in skin permeability. However, higher voltage pulses appear to have caused lasting changes. Figure 1 also suggests that a transition region may exist at ~100 V, below which flux increased as a strong function of voltage, and flux increases were reversible; above which flux increased only weakly with voltage and effects were only partially reversible. The exact mechanism underlying this transition is presently unclear. However, for applications it is potentially important that up to 1000-fold flux increases which appear to be fully reversible can be achieved using pulses below ~100 V. The longer-lived changes associated with up to 10,000-fold flux increases may limit application of higher-voltage electroporation.

Third, changes in skin structure cannot be expected to be revealed by microscopy, for reasons discussed below. However, demonstrating that increased fluxes caused

396



Figure 2 Transdermal fluxes of calcein during pulsing (■) and during application of DC iontophoresis (♦). Upper axis indicates pulsing voltages electrically "equivalent" to continuous DC voltages on lower axis (see text), suggesting that skin structural changes may be needed to explain the high fluxes caused by electroporation. Standard deviation bars are shown. Fluxes below the calcein flux detection limit are indicated below the dashed line. (From Prausnitz, M. R. et al., *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.*, 90, 10504, 1993. With permission.)

by pulsing cannot be explained by electrophoresis alone suggests that changes in skin structure are necessary to explain our results. We therefore compared fluxes caused by low duty cycle high-voltage pulsing to fluxes caused by the continuous low-voltage DC current which would provide the same total electrophoretic transport contribution if no changes in skin structure occurred. For example, if the skin were unaltered (i.e., same conductance), then constant application of 0.1 V would transfer the same amount of charge across the skin as the pulsed application of 500 V for 1 ms every 5 s, making these conditions "equivalent" electrophoretically. As seen in Figure 2, application of continuous voltages caused fluxes three orders of magnitude smaller than pulsing under "equivalent" conditions, suggesting that skin structural changes are needed to explain these results.

To appropriately characterize electroporation, we believe that measurement of changes in molecular flux and electrical properties is the best approach, because these measures are widely used in the electroporation literature. Upon initial consideration, electron microscopy might also appear to be an appropriate tool for visualizing the pores created by electroporation. However, currently no satisfactory electron micrographs of electropores in any membrane exist, primarily because electropores are believed to be small (<10 nm), sparse (<0.1% of surface area), and generally short-lived (μ s to s). Thus, visualization of electropores by any form of microscopy is not expected.¹⁴ Moreover, although the name "electroporation" suggests the creation of physical pores, all that has been experimentally established is that transiently elevated transport and electrical conductance occur. We therefore did not employ electron microscopy to look for pores in the complex multilaminate structures of the skin, as they have not been imaged in simpler systems.

Enhanced transport of two other polar molecules across the skin was achieved by electroporation: Lucifer Yellow (457 Da, -2 charge) and an erythrosin derivative (1025 Da, -1 charge), a small macromolecule, neither of which normally crosses skin at detectable levels. These molecules were selected because they are fluorescent and have different physical properties than calcein. As seen in Figure 3, pulsing can cause



Figure 3 Transdermal fluxes of (a) an erythrosin derivative (1025 Da, -1 charge), (a) Lucifer Yellow (457 Da, -2 charge), and (a) calcein across human skin *in vitro*. This figure demonstrates that electroporation increases the flux of a number of polar molecules having different molecular characteristics. Standard deviation bars are shown. The (*) symbol indicates a flux below the detection limit: $10^{-2} \mu g/cm^2/h$ for the erythrosin derivative and $10^{-3} \mu g/cm^2/h$ for Lucifer Yellow. (From Prausnitz, M. R. et al., *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.*, 90, 10504, 1993. With permission.)

fluxes of both molecules similar to those caused for calcein under the same conditions. This suggests that electroporation-enhanced transport may be broadly applicable to many molecules, possibly including those of larger molecular weights.

Finally, electroporation *in vivo* was performed on anesthetized hairless rats. Using protocols similar to those employed *in vitro*, electroporation at voltages ranging from 30 to 300 V caused transport of 10 to 20 μ g/cm²/h.^{7,38} No calcein was detected in the serum of unpulsed rats. That the *in vivo* fluxes did not increase with voltage suggests that a rate-limiting step other than transport across the SC existed, perhaps uptake of calcein from a skin depot into the bloodstream. No visible skin damage was observed after pulsing at voltages <150 V; erythema and edema were evident at higher voltages. Long-term biochemical and pathological studies are needed.

Together these results have implications for understanding mechanisms of skin electroporation and for applications to transdermal drug delivery. First, the three characteristic features of electroporation were found in pulsed skin, suggesting that electroporation is the mechanism of flux enhancement. Moreover, for applications, the marked flux increases which are reversible over a range of voltages could make possible the therapeutic delivery of many drugs across skin.

B. ELECTROPORATION AND IONTOPHORESIS

Studies have been performed by Tamada, Bommannan, and co-workers to assess flux increases due to iontophoresis following a single electroporation pulse and to compare them to fluxes by iontophoresis alone.^{35,36} The experimental apparatus used was similar to that discussed above, involving heat-stripped human cadaver epidermis in side-by-side permeation chambers with saline buffered at pH 7.4. For electroporated samples, a single exponential-decay electric field pulse was applied (300 to 400 V, $\tau = 5$ to 9 ms), followed by 10 to 60 min constant-current iontophoresis using Ag/AgCl electrodes. Passive flux was measured before and after electrical exposures. For iontophoresis-only control samples, the identical protocol was followed, except the high-voltage pulse was omitted.

The results of a study with luteinizing hormone-releasing hormone (LHRH, 1182 Da, +1 net charge) are shown in Figure 4. For iontophoresis-only samples, the flux

398



Figure 4 Transdermal transport of LHRH due to iontophoresis following a single electroporation pulse (•) and iontophoresis alone (□). See text for experimental protocols. Linear regressions are shown. This figure shows that application of a single electroporation pulse before iontophoresis can significantly increase the flux of LHRH relative to iontophoresis alone. (Data from Bornmannan, D. et al., *Proc. Int. Symp. Control. Rel. Bioact. Mater.*, 20, 97, 1993.)

increased with increasing current density. However, for the samples exposed to iontophoresis at the same current density, following a single electroporation pulse, LHRH was transported to a significantly greater extent. Moreover, within several hours after the electrical exposure, fluxes decreased substantially and were close to pretreatment levels. Similar results have been shown for [arg⁸]-vasopressin (1084 Da, +2 net charge) and neurotensin (1693 Da, +1 net charge), in which flux increases due to electroporation followed by iontophoresis were three to eight fold greater than iontophoresis alone.

These results demonstrate that the enhancement due to electroporation and iontophoresis can be combined, making an even more powerful approach to transdermal drug delivery than either one alone. Moreover, the additional enhancement of peptide transport across the skin due to electroporation may lead to noninvasive, controlled delivery of peptides at therapeutic levels. These results show that a single electroporation pulse increased the effects of iontophoresis for many minutes after the pulse, but appeared to reverse after hours. This indicates that a lasting change in skin properties occurred and is consistent with transient structural changes.

C. ELECTRICAL ANALYSIS

Skin electrical properties have been extensively characterized.³⁹⁻⁴² Changes in skin impedance have been reported in response to a wide range of physical and emotional stimuli, exhibiting significant intersubject variability. The most commonly used electrical model for skin is the parallel combination of a resistor (~100 k Ω cm²) and a capacitor (~10 nF/cm²). More complicated models were proposed in which the choice of model is determined by the skin substructures of interest and the relevant frequency range. However, these linear models are valid only over a small voltage range (<1 V), above which the electrical properties of skin are nonlinear.⁴³⁻⁴⁵

To study changes in skin impedance due to electroporation, skin was prepared and loaded into permeation chambers as in the molecular flux experiments. Measurement and analysis of skin electrical properties were done as described previously.³⁷ Briefly, an exponential voltage pulse was applied across the chamber. Current during the pulse was obtained by measuring the voltage across a 5- Ω sampling resistor placed in series with the chamber, while the voltage across the skin was measured using two

Ag/AgCl electrodes placed near the skin. Impedance spectra were measured before and after pulsing by applying current steps ranging from 0.1 to 2 μ A to the outer electrodes of a four-electrode measurement system. The voltage developed at the inner electrodes was measured by a high impedance differential amplifier and digitized by a PC-based data acquisition system. The data were later analyzed to determine the skin impedance as a function of frequency. The impedance spectra were then fit to the most statistically significant electric circuit model, which consisted of the typical parallel R-C circuit, modified by placing a series R-C circuit in parallel with it. The series R-C is a lumped approximation of the high-frequency properties of skin. This approximation provides a more accurate representation of skin electrical properties over the relevant frequency range (less than a few kilohertz).³⁷ Impedance measurements were made before the pulse and at several times >20 ms after the pulse.

The saline on either side of the chamber had a resistance on the order of 100 Ω . Thus, the nominal charging time of the system (in the absence of nonlinear effects) would be on the order of 1 µs (i.e., charging time, $\tau = RC = 100 \Omega \times 10 \text{ nF} = 1 \text{ µs}$). If skin electrical properties remained unchanged during a pulse (i.e., $R = 10^5 \Omega$ and C = 10 nF), current after the microsecond charging time would be 1 to 5 mA for typical pulses of 100 to 500 V across the skin. However, currents of 500 to 4000 mA were measured under these conditions (data not shown). The three order of magnitude difference between predicted and measured currents suggests that skin electrical properties underwent dramatic changes on the time scale of a microsecond. This result is supported by measurements made near the end of the pulse, where effective skin resistances on the order of 100 Ω were determined. This was done by assuming a linear circuit model is valid because the voltage is nearly constant at the end of the pulse.

For transdermal voltages <100 V, the impedance spectrum measured 20 ms after the pulse was identical to the prepulsing impedance. This suggests that within milliseconds the skin had recovered fully from the changes induced during pulsing. At higher voltages a threshold appeared, above which lasting changes in impedance were evident. This threshold was between 200 and 300 V, depending on the particular sample. Figure 5A shows the impedance of a representative skin sample before pulsing, and at three different times after pulsing. The most significant change in the impedance was the resistance (impedance at 0 Hz), which was determined by evaluating the DC impedance of the fitted model. Resistance after a pulse is plotted as a function of time in Figure 5B. This curve has three characteristic time constants: one <20 ms (between the pulse and the first impedance measurement), one between 5 and 20 s, and the third between 50 and 200 s. Resistance returned to 5 to 100% of its prepulse value, depending on pulsing voltage and the sample used. Incomplete recovery indicates that some permanent changes in skin structure occurred.

These results are consistent with three important features of electroporation:

 Changes in skin electrical properties of several orders of magnitude occurred on a time scale of microseconds. Although changes in skin electrical properties also occur in iontophoresis (i.e., exposure at a few volts over longer times), skin resistance decreases by only up to one order of magnitude on the time scale of minutes. This is a seven order of magnitude difference in time scale.

400



Figure 5 (A) Impedance spectra of a representative skin sample before pulsing at 210 V (a), and at 800 ms (b), 40 s, (c) and 4 min (d) after pulsing. The impedance "recovered" toward its prepulse value over time. (B) Resistance of the skin after pulsing, calculated from impedance spectra. Prepulse resistance was 220 kΩ; 20 ms postpulse the resistance was 20-fold lower. The resistance recovery was characterized by three time constants: <20 ms (between the pulse and the first impedance measurement), 5 s, and 57 s for the data shown.

- 2. Apparently, a threshold of a few hundred volts exists, below which long-lasting electrical changes in skin are not seen. Assuming a few hundred bilayers lie in a cross-section of SC, the observed electroporation threshold of a few hundred volts would be expected because the literature shows that the electroporation threshold for a single lipid bilayer is on the order of 1 V.⁸⁻¹²
- 3. A range of voltages exists over which changes in electrical properties are fully reversible and above which the changes are only partially reversible. The existence of these two ranges is consistent with electroporation in other systems.⁸⁻¹²

IV. DISCUSSION

A. ELECTROPORATION MECHANISM

It is well established that the SC is the primary barrier to transdermal transport;¹⁻⁴ thus, our interpretation is that changes in the SC account for the observed increases in flux due to electroporation. Although studied mainly in the context of living cells, electroporation also has been investigated widely in artificial planar bilayer membranes and liposomes.^{8-12,23} Because electroporation is a physical process based on electrostatic interactions and thermal fluctuations within fluid membranes, no active transport processes are involved.⁸⁻¹² Thus, electroporation could occur in the SC, even though it does not contain living cells.

"Proving" that electroporation occurs in skin cannot be done. In the literature electroporation is described experimentally as characteristic behavior (e.g., very large increases in molecular transport and conductance in lipid bilayers), occurring at characteristic voltages (e.g., approximately 1 V across a bilayer), and over characteristic times (e.g., submicrosecond onset and biphasic recovery over milliseconds and minutes). Although the mechanisms by which these events occur (e.g., creation of aqueous pores, called electropores) are plausible, these mechanisms are hypotheses; electropores have not been experimentally observed by imaging. Therefore, an experimental investigation of skin electroporation should establish whether phenomena similar to those observed in cell electroporation occur in skin as well.

The above experiments demonstrate very large increases in transdermal flux, which are reversible over a range of conditions and appear to be associated with structural changes. These results were seen with six different molecules having molecular weights up to approximately 1700 Da. Similar results were observed *in vivo* with animal skin. Electrical analysis showed dramatic electrical changes occurring within 1 μ s and recovery with millisecond and second time constants. Our interpretation is that these experimental results exhibit the characteristic behavior of electroporation. We therefore conclude that electroporation of skin has occurred.

B. DRUG DELIVERY APPLICATIONS

Although electroporation causes large flux increases across the SC, deeper viable tissue may be essentially unaffected. This localization is expected because the SC has a much higher electrical resistance than other regions of the skin. As a result, an electric field applied to the skin will concentrate in the SC, resulting in other, viable tissues being exposed to much lower fields. Therefore, an electric field sufficient to cause electroporation could exist in the SC, while a significantly lower field exists in viable tissues, insufficient to cause electroporation. An implicit targeting mechanism results in which the greatest electric fields are generated where the largest

resistivities exist, thereby protecting the already-permeable viable parts of the skin and deeper tissues.

It is presently difficult to state with certainty which electrical conditions will be acceptable for clinical use. Many features, including pulse voltage/current/energy, pulse length, pulse frequency, duration of total exposure, and electrode size, site, and design, will be important. A complete consideration of the safety of electroporation of skin is beyond the scope of this study. However, that the electrical exposures used were fully reversible over a range of voltages is a strong indication that the procedure is not damaging and may be safe. Moreover, a clinical precedent has been set for safely applying electric pulses to skin with voltages up to hundreds of volts and durations up to milliseconds. Such diagnostic and therapeutic applications include transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation, functional electrical stimulation, electromyography, and somatosensory evoked potential testing.^{46,47}

Because of the overall hydrophobic character and net negative charge of the SC, transdermal transport of negatively charged hydrophilic molecules is especially challenging.¹⁻⁴ Calcein, with eight charge sites and a net charge of -4,⁴⁸ is therefore considerably more difficult to transport across the skin than many other molecules. Approaches to transdermal flux enhancement involving chemical enhancers have been successful with some lipophilic and moderately polar molecules, but limited in applicability to highly polar and charged molecules. Iontophoresis was employed successfully with some polar and charged molecules. For many drugs, delivery rates in the microgram per square centimeter per hour range could be therapeutic, while significantly higher rates of delivery may be required for other drugs. In general, a 10-fold increase in flux caused by an enhancement method is impressive, while a 100-fold increases in flux caused by electroporation are therefore potentially very significant and could make possible transdermal delivery of many drugs at therapeutic levels.

Finally, transdermal flux enhancement has been demonstrated with other techniques, including chemical, iontophoretic, and ultrasonic methods. Because electroporation is mechanistically different, involving temporary alterations of skin structure, it could be used in combination with these or other enhancers. Together, these results suggest that electroporation of skin occurs and may be useful to enhance transdermal drug delivery.

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

This work was supported in part by Cygnus Therapeutic Systems (M. R. P., V. G. B., and J. C. W.), Army Research Office Grant DAAL03-90-G-0218 (V. G. B. and J. C. W.), and National Institutes of Health Grants GM34077 (J. C. W.) and GM44884 (R. L.).

REFERENCES

- 1. Bronaugh, R. L. and Maibach, H. I., Eds., Percutaneous Absorption, Mechanisms Methodology Drug Delivery, Marcel Dekker, New York, 1989.
- 2. Hadgraft, J. and Guy, R. H., Eds., Transdermal Drug Delivery: Developmental Issues and Research Initiatives, Marcel Dekker, New York, 1989.

- Champion, R. H., Burton, J. L., and Ebling, F. J. G., Eds., Textbook of Dermatology, Blackwell Scientific, London, 1992.
- 4. Cullander, C. and Guy, R. H., Transdermal delivery of peptides and proteins, *Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev.*, 8, 291, 1992.
- Bouwstra, J. A., Vries, M. A. D., Gooris, G. S., Bras, W., Brussee, J., and Ponec, M., Thermodynamic and structural aspects of the skin barrier, J. Control. Rel., 15, 209, 1991.
- Elias, P. M., Epidermal barrier function: intercellular lamellar lipid structures, origin, composition and metabolism, J. Control. Rel., 15, 199, 1991.
- Prausnitz, M. R., Bose, V. G., Langer, R., and Weaver, J. C., Electroporation of mammalian skin: a mechanism to enhance transdermal drug delivery, *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.*, 90, 10504, 1993.
- Neumann, E., Sowers, A. E., and Jordan, C. A., Eds., Electroporation and Electrofusion in Cell Biology, Plenum Press, New York, 1989.
- 9. Tsong, T. Y., Electroporation of cell membranes, Biophys. J., 60, 297, 1991.
- Chang, D. C., Chassy, B. M., Saunders, J. A., and Sowers, A. E., Eds., Guide to Electroporation and Electrofusion, Academic Press, New York, 1992.
- Orlowski, S. and Mir, L. M., Cell electropermeabilization: a new tool for biochemical and pharmacological studies, *Biochim. Biophys. Acta*, 1154, 51, 1993.
- Weaver, J. C., Electroporation: a general phenomenon for manipulating cells and tissues, J. Cell. Biochem., 51, 426, 1993.
- Chang, D. C. and Reese, T. S., Changes in membrane structure induced by electroporation as revealed by rapid-freezing electron microscopy, *Biophys. J.*, 58, 1, 1990.
- Weaver, J. C., Electroporation: a dramatic nonthermal electric field phenomenon, in *Electricity* and Magnetism in Biology and Medinine, Blank, M., Ed., San Francisco Press, San Francisco, 1993, 95.
- Benz, R. F., Beckers, F., and Zimmermann, U., Reversible electrical breakdown of lipid bilayer membranes: a charge-pulse relaxation study, J. Membr. Biol., 48, 181, 1979.
- Serpersu, E. H., Kinosita, K., and Tsong, T. Y., Reversible and irreversible modification of erythrocyte membrane permeability by electric field, *Biochim. Biophys. Acta*, 812, 770, 1985.
- Hibino, M., Shigemori, M., Itoh, H., Nagayama, K., and Kinosita, K., Jr., Membrane conductance of an electroporated cell analyzed by submicrosecond imaging of transmembrane potential, *Biophys. J.*, 59, 209, 1991.
- Neumann, E., Werner, E., Sprafke, A., and Kruger, K., Electroporation phenomena. Electrooptics of plasmid DNA and of lipid bilayer vesicles, in *Colloid and Molecular Electro-optics 1992*, Jennings, B. R. and Stoylov, S. P., Eds., IOP Publishing, Bristol, U.K., 1992.
- 19. Barnett, A. and Weaver, J. C., A unified, quantitative theory of reversible electrical breakdown and rupture, *Bioelectrochem. Bioenerg.*, 25, 163, 1991.
- Chernomordik, L. V., Sukharev, S. I., Abidor, I. G., and Chizmadzhev, Y. A., Breakdown of lipid bilayer membranes in an electric field, *Biochim. Biophys. Acta*, 736, 203, 1983.
- Kinosita, K., Jr., Hibino, M., Itoh, H., Shigemori, M., Hirano, K., Kirino, Y., and Hayakawa, T., Events of membrane electroporation visualized on a time scale from microsecond to seconds, in *Guide to Electroporation and Electrofusion*, Chang, D. C., Chassy, B. M., Saunders, J. A., and Sowers, A. E., Eds., Academic Press, New York, 1992, 29.
- Glaser, R. W., Leikin, S. L., Chernomordik, L. V., Pastushenko, V. F., and Sokirko, A. I., Reversible electrical breakdown of lipid bilayers: formation and evolution of pores, *Biochim. Biophys. Acta*, 940, 275, 1988.
- Abidor, I. G., Arakelyan, V. B., Chernomordik, L. V., Chizmadzhev, Y. A., Pastushenko, V. F., and Tarasevich, M. R., Electric breakdown of bilayer membranes. I. The main experimental facts and their qualitative discussion, *Bioelectrochem. Bioenerg.*, 6, 37, 1979.
- Benz, R. and Zimmermann, U., Relaxation studies on cell membranes and lipid bilayers in the high electric field range, *Bioelectrochem. Bioenerg.*, 7, 723, 1980.
- Neumann, E., The relaxation hysteresis of membrane electroporation, in *Electroporation and Electrofusion in Cell Biology*, Neumann, E., Sowers, A. E., and Jordan, C. A., Eds., Plenum Press, New York, 1989, 61.
- Kwee, S., Nielsen, H. V., and Celis, J. E., Electropermeabilization of human cultured cells grown in monolayers, *Bioelectrochem. Bioenerg.*, 23, 65, 1990.

- 27. Raptis, L. and Firth, K. L., Electroporation of adherent cells in situ, DNA Cell Biol., 9, 615, 1990.
- 28. Okino, M. and Mohri, H., Effects of a high voltage electrical impulse and an anticancer drug on *in vivo* growing tumors, *Jpn. J. Cancer Res.*, 78, 1319, 1987.
- Powell, K. T., Morgenthaler, A. W., and Weaver, J. C., Tissue electroporation: observation of reversible electrical breakdown in viable frog skin, *Biophys. J.*, 56, 1163, 1989.
- Mir, L. M., Orlowski, S., Belehradek, J., and Paoletti, C., Electrochemotherapy: potentiation of antitumor effect of bleomycin by local electric pulses, *Eur. J. Cancer*, 27, 68, 1991.
- Titomirov, A. V., Sukharev, S., and Kistanova, E., In vivo electroporation and stable transformation of skin cells of newborn mice by plasmid DNA, Biochim. Biophys. Acta, 1088, 131, 1991.
- 32. Salford, L. G., Persson, B. R. R., Brun, A., Ceberg, C. P., Kongstad, P. C., and Mir, L. M., A new brain tumour therapy combining bleomycin with *in vivo* electropermeabilization, *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.*, 194, 938, 1993.
- Mir, L. M., Belehradek, M., Domenge, C., Orlowski, S., Poddevin, B., Belehradek, J., Schwaab, G., Luboinski, B., and Paoletti, C., Electrochemotherapy, a novel antitumor treatment: first clinical trial, C. R. Acad. Sci. Ser. III, 313, 613, 1991.
- Prausnitz, M. R., Bose, V. G., Langer, R., and Weaver, J. C., Transdermal drug delivery by electroporation, Proc. Int. Symp. Control. Rel. Bioact. Mater., 19, 232, 1992.
- Bommannan, D., Leung, L., Tamada, J., Sharifi, J., Abraham, W., and Potts, R., Transdermal delivery of luteinizing hormone releasing hormone: comparison between electroporation and iontophoresis in vitro, Proc. Int. Symp. Control. Rel. Bioact. Mater., 20, 97, 1993.
- Tamada, J., Sharifi, J., Bommannan, D. B., Leung, L., Azimi, N., Abraham, W., and Potts, R., Effect of electroporation on the iontophoretic delivery of peptides *in vitro*, *Pharm. Res.*, 10, S-257, 1993.
- Bose, V. G., Electrical Characterization of Electroporation of Human SC, M.S. thesis, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Cambridge, 1994.
- Prausnitz, M. R., Seddick, D. S., Kon, A. A., Bose, V. G., Frankenburg, S., Klaus, S. N., Langer, R., and Weaver, J. C., Methods for *in vivo* tissue electroporation using surface electrodes, *Drug Deliv.*, 1, 125, 1993.
- Horton, J. W. and Ravenswaay, A. C. V., Electrical impedance of the human body, J. Franklin Inst., 220, 557, 1935.
- Yamamoto, T. and Yamamoto, Y., Non-linear electrical properties of skin in the low frequency range, Med. Biol. Eng. Comput., 19, 302, 1981.
- 41. Rosell, J., Colominas, J., Riu, P., Pallas-Areny, R., and Webster, J. G., Skin impedance from 1 Hz to 1 MHz, *IEEE Trans. Biomed. Eng.*, 35, 649, 1988.
- Geddes, L. A. and Baker, L. E., Principles of Applied Biomedical Instrumentation, 3rd ed., John Wiley & Sons, New York, 1989.
- 43. Stephens, W. G. S., The current-voltage relationship in human skin, Med. Electron. Biol. Eng., 1, 389, 1963.
- 44. Kasting, G. B. and Bowman, L. A., DC electrical properties of frozen, excised human skin, *Pharm. Res.*, 7, 134, 1990.
- Sims, S. M., Higuchi, W. I., and Srinivasan, V., Skin alteration and convective solvent flow effects during iontophoresis. II. Monovalent anion and cation transport across human skin, *Pharm. Res.*, 9, 1402, 1992.
- 46. Webster, J. G., Ed., Encyclopedia of Medical Devices, John Wiley & Sons, New York, 1988.
- Reilly, J. P., Electrical Stimulation and Electropathology, Cambridge University Press, New York, 1992.
- Furry, J. W., Preparation, Properties and Applications of Calcein in a Highly Pure Form, Ph.D. thesis, Iowa State University, Ames, 1985.